Budget Tips
Introduction
Upon deciding to submit a proposal, immediately notify your unit’s Assistant Dean of Research. Give them a copy of the proposal guidelines or the URL so they can review them. Also, please make sure to submit a request for proposal assistance at: https://ospproposal.gmu.edu/Default.aspx 
As soon as you have a rough idea of what resources you will need to conduct the proposed project, start jotting them down to draft an initial budget. This is important to do early in the proposal preparation process so that your work plans do not exceed funding limits. Then, as your plans are refined, the budget can be easily and quickly adjusted. 
Think of budgeting as an iterative process involving input from your collaborators, Department Chair or Dean, OSP, and the sponsor guidelines; there may be cost elements or limitations required that you have not considered so it is best to involve all parties early in the process. See the OSP page on budget prep here: https://osp.gmu.edu/budget-preparation/, and discuss the budget with your unit’s Assistant Dean of Research as early as possible.
As soon as the budget is solidified, a copy of it must be submitted to your assigned OSP representative, for approval. This should be done at least four working days before proposal submission; you may review the internal deadline policy here: https://osp.gmu.edu/wp-content/uploads/Internal-Proposal-Deadline-Policy-082520.pdf. So, remember, the budget is a critical component of proposals and should not be left to the last minute.
Key Questions 

· Who will be working on the project? What percent of their time will you need?
· Will you require any GRA support and, if so, do you wish to include tuition remission and health insurance?
· What travel will be involved with the project?

· Will you need to purchase equipment for the project?

· Will subcontractors or consultants be involved with the project?

· What is the sum of personnel, travel, contractuals, and commodities and equipment?
· What costs are unallowable on the project? Has the sponsor put any other limitations on how the funds may be spent?

· Have the cost elements been properly allocated, and do they reflect what is necessary and reasonable to achieve the project’s aims?
Budgetary Items
Personnel
Principal Investigator (PI) or Project Director (PD): For purposes of grant management, there can be only one PI. Multiple Co-PIs are often included in budgets.

Collaborators, Senior Personnel, or Faculty Associates: These are all generic terms for individuals working on the project, including personnel working via subcontracts and consulting agreements. These are descriptive, inclusive terms, not used as budget categories.

Full-Time Equivalent: Refers to the percent of effort devoted to a particular funding source during a particular pay period. Often, academic units refer to one course as 12.5% effort, but in doing so they are averaging effort out over the 9 month academic year. For grants and contracts purposes, one course translates to 25% FTE. At no time may the FTE exceed 100%.

Summer Pay: Nine-month faculty can earn up to a certain percentage of their annual 9 month rate in the summer. This amount includes both income from summer school teaching and participation in grants and contracts. Please note that no more than 90% of effort expended during the summer period of May 25 – August 24 (2.7 months) should be charged to sponsored projects.
Guidelines for GRAs/GTAs/GPAs are here: https://provost.gmu.edu/academics-and-research/graduate-education/graduate-student-appointments-fellowships. Rules pertain to certain GRA types included on a proposal, where tuition and health insurance are separately budgeted (see Other Direct Costs below). 
Fringe Benefits
Mason annually negotiates specific rates tied to employment type (Academic, Non-student wage, Student wage, etc.), and is calculated according to Mason’s negotiated rates. The Mason budget template on the OSP site contains the most up-to-date fringe rates. These costs incur F&A.
Travel 
Be aware of agency requirements, some require detailed cost estimates for meals, lodging, airfare, mileage, registration, etc., while others require travel costs to be broken down by in-state, out-of-state and international. Federal sponsors require use of specific rates set by Office of Personnel Management (domestic) and U.S. State Department (foreign). 
Equipment
Be careful, some agencies do not allow equipment purchases and remember that the equipment must be specifically allocated to your project and will have to be justified. Equipment is typically defined as having a useful life of < 3years and an acquisition value of $5,000. Typically, computers and laptops do not qualify as equipment, however computer servers do. Equipment costs are exempt from being charged F&A. 
Contractual Items
Subcontracts are agreements with other institutions/agencies to provide certain services for the project. Subcontracts require that the institution/agency prepare a budget detailing its expenses and submit it, with the appropriate forms and institutional approval, so the SSRC can submit it as part of its proposal. F&A is incurred only on the first $25K of a subcontract, the remainder for the life of an individual project is exempt.
Consultants are individuals who are not Mason employees. Usually, a letter from the consultant indicating his/her agreement to work on the project is included with the proposal. Consultants are paid an hourly (or per day) fee and consultant expenses such as travel expenses, if any, must be included in the budget. Keep in mind, that if awarded, the University requires an explanation for why an existing employee is not able to provide the service.
For assistance in determining your responsibilities for monitoring subrecipients, and for differentiating between subcontracts and consultants, see OSP guidance here: https://osp.gmu.edu/subcontracts/ 
Participant Support vs. Human Subjects

Social science disciplines have started to use the language ‘participant’ to replace the term ‘human subject’, but in the proposal development world the older term is still in effect. Both receive compensation in some form, but the two terms are distinct and must be budgeted correctly. Details on the difference between participant support and human subjects costs are here: https://osp.gmu.edu/sponsored-expenditures/#participantsupport 
Participants typically have costs paid on their behalf (e.g. travel) or may receive funds directly (e.g. per diem or stipends). If your project is non-research and the main purpose is to hold meetings, conferences, symposia, or training projects, likely participant support costs will be involved. You must also differentiate between compensation paid to participants (those who are the main beneficiaries of the project/meeting) and those paid to speak (honoraria, which include travel costs). The Mason budget has a section specifically designated for participant support, as it is exempt from being charged F&A. 
Human subject costs are paid directly to persons in connection with human subjects research as an incentive to participate, or as reimbursement the costs of participation (e.g. travel). These costs incur F&A. 
Materials & Supplies
Materials (e.g., software and data) to be used exclusively for the project that do not qualify as equipment (see above), nor are typically allocated as F&A. 
Some Other Direct Costs
GRA tuition and health care subsidies may be allocated proportional to the student’s effort on the project. Rules for who is eligible are found under Governing Policy on the Provost website: https://provost.gmu.edu/academics-and-research/graduate-education/graduate-student-appointments-fellowships. These costs are separately budgeted, not as a fringe benefit, and are excluded from F&A. 

Have to follow the rates established by the funding organization in respect to the university requirements and academic unit approval should match or waivers be needed. Get in touch with you unit’s Assistant Dean of Research to secure any special provisions.
Facilities and Administrative Fees (F&A)
Also known as indirect or overhead, Facilities & Administrative (F&A) costs are real costs that the institution incurs in support of sponsored activities but which cannot be charged as direct costs to a specific grant or contract (i.e. general office supplies, clerical support, facility costs, etc.). Mason annually negotiates specific rates tied to the project activity type (research, non-research, instruction, etc.) is calculated according to Mason’s negotiated rates. The Mason budget template on the OSP site contains the most up-to-date F&A rates. 
Note that if the agency will only pay a reduced rate, or no rate at all, a copy of the RFP indicating the limitation should be attached to the proposal. An official letter from the agency will serve the same purpose.

Cost-share
Cost Share is the portion of project expenditures related to a sponsored project that is contributed by parties other than the sponsor, and not directly charged to the sponsored fund. See University Policy Number 4016. See here for further details: https://osp.gmu.edu/proposal-process/ 

If you are required or intend to include cost-share in your budget, reach out to your unit’s Assistant Dean of Research early in the process for guidance.
Project Management
No expenditure may be charged to a particular project without the request and approval of the PI or PD.
PIs or PDs have access to their project budgets via their unit’s finance coordinator. This permits PIs or PDs to easily manage the financial aspects of their projects. The project director is responsible for reviewing the account and notifying the appropriate individuals of any discrepancies or questions PIs or PDs may have. They reconcile these records within Mason’s accounting system. When projects come to an end, they also assist accounting as the project is closed out.
If it becomes obvious that funds need to be reallocated in the budget, again work with the appropriate individual in developing a budget modification. Remember that the contract is between Mason and the agency, so any change in the budget or scope of work must be agreed upon by the university and the agency. Informal agreements between the PI or PD and the PIs or PDs agency contact must be confirmed officially.
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